By-Laws Utah Association for Behavior Analysis A Utah Non-Profit Corporation

Article One Purpose and Office

Section 1.01 Purpose

This corporation is organized and shall be operated exclusively as a business league, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or corresponding provisions of any subsequent federal tax laws); and within such limits, to administer, and expend funds for the following purposes:

- a. Support, facilitate, and advocate for the practice of behavior analysis;
- b. Encourage scientific activity related to behavior analysis;
- c. Provide professional development and training related to behavior analysis;
- d. Serve as a scientific and professional reference and networking group for Members;
- e. Disseminate information to promote mission of the organization to a wider audience; and
- f. Engage in any and all lawful activities incidental to the foregoing purposes except as restricted herein.

Section 1.02 Principal Office

The nonprofit corporation's principal office in the State of Utah is:

509 North 470 East

Providence, Utah 84332

The Board of Directors may change the principal office in the State of Utah from time to time.

Section 1.03 Other Offices

The Board of Directors may establish branch or subordinate offices where the nonprofit corporation is qualified to conduct its activities.

Article Two Members and Member Meetings

Section 2.01 Membership Levels

Membership shall be open to all individuals interested in behavior analysis and/or engaged in research, teaching, and/or application of behavior analysis. UtABA shall have four levels of Members: Full Members, Professional Members, Student Members, and Affiliate Members. Full and Professional Members are granted

voting rights in general UtABA elections. The membership levels are described below:

1. Full Members:

- a. Anyone certified as a BCBA or BCBA-D by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB, or registered in the State of Utah by DOPL as a Licensed Behavior Analyst (LBA), or
- b. Individuals who are licensed or registered psychologists certified by the American Board of Professional Psychology in Behavioral and Cognitive Psychology who have tested in Applied Behavior Analysis, or
- c. An approved instructor in a Verified Course Sequence, or
- d. A person who holds a doctoral degree from an accredited higher education institution and has established a record of meritorious contributions in behavior analysis
- e. Proof of certification, licensure, and/or contributions to behavior analysis via curriculum vitae may be requested as part of membership application.

2. **Professional Members:**

- a. Anyone certified as a BCaBA by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board or registered in the State of Utah by DOPL as a Licensed Assistant Behavior Analyst (LaBA).
- b. Proof of certification and/or licensure may be requested as part of membership application.

3. Student Members:

- a. Undergraduate or graduate students, residents or interns.
- b. Proof of student status may be requested as part of membership application.

4. Affiliate Members:

a. Anyone who has an interest in behavior analysis but does not meet the requirements of other membership types.

The Board of Directors may establish and modify the application and documentation required to verify applicant qualifications. If the applicant meets the qualification requirements, the applicant shall be granted membership. If there is a question regarding the acceptability of an application, the Board of Directors may request additional information and shall vote on the applicant for membership.

Section 2.02 Membership Term and Dues

The membership term will be for twelve (12) months from the date of enrollment. Members in good standing shall have fully paid dues for the current membership term. Membership dues shall be set by a vote of the Board of Directors. Student membership dues shall not exceed twenty-five (25%) of membership dues from Full Members.

Section 2.03 Expulsion

The Board of Directors, by two-thirds (2/3) majority vote, may suspend or expel any member for cause after appropriate notice and hearing. By a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote, the committee may also reinstate a former Member on such terms as it deems appropriate.

Section 2.04 Annual Member Meetings

An Annual Meeting of Members shall be held annually for the purpose of providing members with a report on

the association's financial, operational, and membership activity. This meeting is open to all members and is conducted by the President within three months following the Annual Conference.

Notice of the time and place for each meeting shall be by electronic mail to each Member, at their address as recorded in the membership records, and said mailing will be not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the meeting.

Section 2.05 Annual Conference

The Board of Directors will oversee the planning, coordination, and execution of an annual conference for members, non-members, students, and professionals interested in behavior analysis. The annual conference aims to foster professional development, networking, and the dissemination of behavior analytic concepts in the state of Utah. It supports licensed members in obtaining required continuing education credits through various sessions and workshops. Election results for the Board of Directors will be announced during the closing session of the conference.

Section 2.06 Special Meeting

Special Meetings of the Members may be called at any time by a majority of the Board of Directors. It shall be the duty of the President to call Special Meetings whenever requested in writing by at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Full Members.

A notice of any Special Meeting shall be sent by electronic mail to each Member, at their address as recorded in the membership records, and said mailing will be not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the meeting, and shall state the meeting date, time, place, and purpose.

Section 2.07 Quorum

One-eighth (1/8) of the Members shall constitute a quorum at the Annual and Special Meetings.

Article Three Board of Directors

Section 3.01 General Power

The Board of Directors will manage the nonprofit corporation's property and business affairs. The Board of Directors must act consistently with federal law, state law, the Articles of Incorporation, and the By-Laws.

Section 3.02 Number and Qualifications

The nonprofit corporation's authorized number of Directors is at least three (3) but not more than 10 Directors until changed by an amendment to these By-Laws by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors will fix the number of Directors; this number will comprise the entire Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall be made up of at least the President, President-Elect, Past-President, Secretary/Treasurer and two At-Large Members. Two people can fill the Secretary/Treasurer position if

necessary. Not more than two Student representatives may also serve on the Board of Directors in a non-voting capacity.

All Members of the Board of Directors except Student representatives must maintain UtABA membership as a Full or Professional Member and are encouraged to maintain membership in the Association for Behavior Analysis International and/or Association for Professional Behavior Analysts. Student representatives must maintain UtABA membership as a Student member.

Section 3.03 Selection and Term of Office

Prior to the annual conference, the Secretary shall solicit nominations for open positions on the Board of Directors from the Members. The notice shall clearly state the deadline for making a nomination.

- a. Full Members and Professional Members will elect all members of the Board of Directors, excluding Student representatives.
- b. Student members will elect one student representative annually. If fewer than 5 votes are cast for a student representative, full and professional members will be asked to vote for the student representative that year.
- c. All members of the Board of Directors shall be elected for staggered 2-year terms, with President-Elect serving three total years across President Elect, President, and Past-President roles.
- d. Voting may be in any format approved by the current Board of Directors including by majority vote at each annual conference, or by electronic ballot within 30 days of the annual conference.

Section 3.04 Filling of Vacancies

Subject to the provisions of Section 3.03, if any vacancy is caused by death, resignation, or removal of a Director, the remaining Directors, by majority vote, will elect a successor to hold office for the remaining term of the Director whose place is vacant. The successor will serve as a Director until the next regular election of Directors.

If the number of Directors is increased as provided in the By-Laws, the current Directors, by majority vote, will elect the appropriate number of additional Directors to hold office until the next regular election of Directors.

No reduction in the authorized number of Directors will have the effect of removing any Director before the expiration of his or her term.

Section 3.05 Resignation

Subject to the provisions of Utah law, any Director or Committee Chair may resign by giving written notice to the Secretary of the Board of Directors. The resignation will be effective when the Secretary receives the notice unless the notice specifies that the resignation will be effective on a later date. If the resignation is effective at a later date, a successor may be elected before that date but he or she will not take office until the resignation becomes effective.

Section 3.06 Removal

A Director may be removed for cause by two-thirds (2/3) vote of all Directors then in office.

The action will be taken at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors or at a special meeting called for that purpose. The proposed removal must be announced in the notice and sent to the Directors at least ten (10) days before the meeting.

Section 3.07 Compensation of Directors

No stated salaries will be paid to the Directors for their services, but each Director is entitled to receive reimbursement from the nonprofit corporation for any expenses incurred for attending any annual, regular, or special meeting of the Board of Directors.

A fixed sum, established by resolution of the Board of Directors, may be allowed for attendance at each annual, regular, or special meeting of the Board of Directors and the nonprofit corporation will pay this fixed sum whether or not a meeting is adjourned because the meeting lacks a quorum.

Nothing in this Section precludes any Director from serving the nonprofit corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation for his or her service in that capacity.

Article Four Meetings of the Board of Directors

Section 4.01 Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be scheduled and held at such time and place as may be determined by the Members of the Board of Directors.

Section 4.02 Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or called by the President at the direction of not less than two (2) Directors, or as otherwise provided by law. The Director may only transact the specific corporate business announced in the notice for the special meeting.

Section 4.03 Notice of Meetings

Except as may be otherwise specifically provided in the By-Laws, the President or Secretary must give written notice of each regular or special meeting to all Directors by electronic mail at their address as shown by the nonprofit corporation's records. Notice must be given no fewer than thirty (30) days, nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the meeting. Any person entitled to notice of a meeting may waive notice in writing either before or after the time of the meeting.

The attendance of a Director at any meeting constitutes a waiver of notice, except if a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of business at the meeting because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Section 4.04 Ouorum

At all meetings of the Board of Directors there shall be present at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the Board of Directors in attendance, to constitute a quorum.

Section 4.05 Meetings by Technology

Any annual, regular, or special meeting of the Directors may be held using technology (e.g., video

conferencing), if all Directors participating in the meeting can effectively communicate with one another. All participating Directors will be considered present in person at the meeting for all purposes.

Section 4.06 Action without Meeting by Written Consents

If all of the Directors severally or collectively consent in writing (e.g., electronic vote by email) to any action taken by the nonprofit corporation, whether before or after the action is taken, those consents will have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the Board of Directors at a duly called meeting. The Secretary shall file the consents with the minutes of the Board of Directors.

Section 4.07 Required Vote

Except as may be provided otherwise in the By-Laws or the Articles of Incorporation, the action of a majority at a meeting at which a quorum is present is the action of the Board of Directors.

Article Five Officers

Section 5.01 Election and Tenure

The officers of the nonprofit corporation are the President, President-Elect, Past-President, Secretary, Treasurer and two At-Large Members.

Full and professional members will elect the President-elect at each annual conference of the Members. The Secretary and Treasurer will be elected at every other annual conference of the Members. All of the officers shall be Members of the Board of Directors. The Secretary, Treasurer, and At-Large Members shall serve two-year terms. The President-elect shall serve one year as President-Elect, one year as President, and one year as Past-President.

Members will elect one Student Representative at each annual conference, to serve 2-year terms. Student Representatives will serve on the UtABA Student Committee under the direction of the Student Committee Chair.

The same person may not hold any two or more of the offices except the offices of Secretary and Treasurer which may be held by one person. Any member of the Board of Directors could also serve as a committee chair, as needed.

All corporate officers and agents are subject to removal at any time by the majority vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.02 Institutional Affiliation and Diversity

No more than 50% of the voting members of the Board of Directors shall be employed by or in a position to make money from the same institution. For the purposes of this section, an "institution" includes universities, schools, insurance companies, ABA therapy companies, or any other organization where behavior analysts may be employed.

The Board of Directors shall strive to ensure diversity in its composition, representing a broad spectrum of settings within the field of behavior analysis. This includes, but is not limited to, researchers, professors, administrators, teachers, and clinicians who are Board Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBAs). The Board of Directors shall actively seek nominations and encourage participation from individuals across these various settings to promote a well-rounded and representative leadership.

All Board of Directors must disclose their employer and any positions that allow them to make money from the same institution at the time of nomination and update this information within 30 days of any changes.

Preventive Measures:

- During the nomination process, the bylaw section regarding institutional affiliation limitations shall be communicated to potential nominees. The Board of Directors shall encourage nominations from a diverse range of settings and company affiliations.
- The Board of Directors shall provide information on the current institutional representation of its members.
- Should the number of nominees from a single institution exceed the permissible limit, the Board of Directors shall inform the nominees of the anti-monopolization policy and consider deferring their candidacy to the following year.
- The current Board of Directors shall consider whether to add additional board positions to accommodate the nominees.
- If a candidate is the only nominee for a given board position, that candidate shall become the board member, and the other position shall go to the first runner-up not employed by or in a position to make money from the same institution, provided it does not result in more than 50% board membership for that institution.
- If each vacant board position includes multiple nominees and the Board of Directors decides not to add additional board members, the organization may choose which elected nominee(s) will serve on the Board of Directors

Corrective Actions:

- In the event that the Board of Directors composition exceeds the 50% limit for members from the same institution during a term, the voting rights of one or more members from the overrepresented institution shall be temporarily suspended until compliance is restored in the next election cycle.
- The Board of Directors shall request a member to offer to suspend their voting rights, or, if necessary, the Board of Directors will select which member(s) will have their voting rights suspended.
- As a measure of last resort, the Board of Directors may request voluntary resignations from one or more members of the overrepresented institution, followed by the appointment of new members from different institutions.
- As a measure of last resort, the Board of Directors may request voluntary resignations from one or more members of the overrepresented institution, followed by the appointment of new members from different institutions.

Section 5.03 Powers and Duties of the President

The President is the nonprofit corporation's principal executive officer and has general charge and control over all of the nonprofit corporation's business affairs and properties. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The President is responsible for presiding over the Annual Business Meeting, and for planning and executing the association's annual conference.

The President may execute all authorized bonds, contracts or other obligations in the name of the nonprofit corporation. Unless otherwise specifically limited by the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws, the President has all powers and authority otherwise permitted the president of a nonprofit corporation under Utah law. The President is an *ex-officio* member of all the standing committees and will perform any other duties assigned from time to time by the Board of Directors.

If the office of Secretary/Treasurer is vacant and no successor is designated, the President will also have the duties and powers of the Secretary/Treasurer as provided in Section 5.04 and 5.05.

Section 5.04 Powers and Duties of the President-Elect

The President-Elect shall support activities related to the professional practice of behavior analysis.

In case of the absence or disability of the President, the President-Elect will perform the President's duties and be subject to all restrictions and powers of the President.

Section 5.05 Powers and Duties of the Secretary

The Secretary shall:

- give notice of all meetings of Members or Board of Directors and all other notices required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or by the By-Laws;
- keep minutes of the meetings in books provided for that purpose;
- conduct elections:
- maintain all records:
- perform all other duties that may be assigned to them from time to time by the Directors or the President.

Unless otherwise specifically limited by the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws, the Secretary has all powers and authority otherwise permitted the Secretary of a nonprofit corporation under Utah law.

Section 5.06 Powers and Duties of the Treasurer

The Treasurer shall:

- have custody of all the funds and securities of the nonprofit corporation;
- keep full and accurate account of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the nonprofit corporation;
- deposit all moneys and other valuables in the nonprofit corporation's name and credit in those depositories as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time;
- disburse the funds of the nonprofit corporation as ordered by the Board of Directors after taking proper vouchers for such disbursements
- furnish to the President and the Board of Directors, whenever either of them requests, an account of transactions as Treasurer and of the nonprofit corporation's financial condition; and
- furnish to the Board of Directors a written report of the nonprofit corporation's activities, receipts and disbursements during the tax year.

Unless otherwise specifically limited by the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws, the Treasurer has all powers and authority otherwise permitted the treasurer of a nonprofit corporation under Utah law.

Section 5.07 Additional Responsibilities for Members of the Board of Directors

All Board of Directors shall:

- maintain regular attendance to monthly Board meetings
- regularly respond to email and other correspondence regarding Board activities
- participate in the planning and execution of the annual conference
- act as a Board liaison for Committees, as assigned

Article Six Committees

Section 6.01 Committees of Board of Directors

The Board of Directors may, by majority vote, designate one or more committees.

An active committee must consist of at least one (1) Committee Chair and (1) member of the Board of Directors who acts as the Board liaison to the Committee.

Committees are encouraged to meet at regularly occurring monthly meetings via online meeting technology. Committee meetings shall be arranged at a time convenient for most committee members. Notice of the time and place for each meeting shall be by electronic mail to each committee member or included as part of a reoccurring meeting, at their address as recorded in the membership records, and said mailing will be not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the meeting.

Information on active committees will be shared with all members, and participation as a committee member is available to all members. Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee, each committee Member will serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.

The designation of committees and delegation of authority to the committees will not operate to relieve the Board of Directors, or any individual Director of any responsibility imposed on the Board of Directors or any individual Members by law.

Section 6.02 Committee Chairs

Each Committee Chair will serve for a minimum of a 2-year term.

The Committee Chair is designated in one of the following ways:

- 1. The current committee chair or a member of the Board of Directors nominates a current committee member who is actively involved in the committee and exhibits leadership potential. The Board of Directors, by majority vote, approves the nominee as Committee Chair.
- 2. The current committee chair or a UtABA Board Member nominates a current UtABA member who is interested in having an active role in UtABA and exhibits leadership potential. The Board of Directors, by majority vote, approves the nominee as Committee Chair
- 3. A call for nominations is made to the general membership and the Board of Directors votes on the submissions; or
- 4. A call for nominations is made to the general membership and the general membership votes on nominees.

Nominees for a committee Chair must have actively participated in a committee for at least one year or must have served as a Board of Directors for the Association for at least one year prior to being nominated as a

committee Chair. Nominees that do not meet these criteria must submit a letter to the Board of Directors requesting consideration and outlining their experience and credentials, as well as three letters of reference by Full or Professional Members of the Association. The Board of Directors will review the applicant's submission and accept or reject their nomination by majority vote.

Committee Chairs are asked to:

- Serve in their capacity for a minimum of two years
- Schedule and lead regularly occurring monthly committee meetings
- Keep agenda minutes saved to the UtABA Drive
- Collaborate with the Board Liaison to set goals and carry out initiatives determined by the committee
- Attend the Committee updates portion of the monthly UtABA Board meeting

Article Seven Liability and Indemnification

No member of the Board of Directors or officer of the nonprofit corporation will be personally liable for the payment of the nonprofit corporation's debts and liabilities except as any Board of Director or officer may be liable by reason of his or her own conduct or acts. Relief from liability for the nonprofit corporation's debts will not apply in any instance where that relief is inconsistent with any provisions of the Internal Revenue Code applicable to organizations described in Section 50l(c)(6).

Subject to the previous paragraph, the nonprofit corporation shall indemnify every Director or officer and his or her heirs, executors, and administrators, against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or her-as well as any amount paid upon judgment-in connection with any civil or criminal action, suit, or proceeding to which he or she may be made a party because of his or her role as a Director or officer of the nonprofit corporation.

This indemnification is being given since the Directors will be requested to act by the nonprofit corporation for the nonprofit corporation's benefit.

This indemnification is exclusive of all other rights to which a Director may be entitled.

Article Eight Corporate Seal

The nonprofit corporation will not have a seal. If a seal is required for any corporate transactions, the words *Corporate Seal* followed by the signature of one or more officers on behalf of the nonprofit corporation shall constitute a proper affixing of the seal.

Article Nine Financial Matters

Section 9.01 Delegation by Board of Directors

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer, employee or agent to enter into any contracts or to sign and deliver any instruments in the name of the nonprofit corporation. The authority granted by the Board of Directors may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 9.02 Deposits

All nonprofit corporation funds will be deposited to the credit of the nonprofit corporation at those banks, trust companies or other depositories selected by the Board of Directors. But the Board of Directors may authorize any officer, employee or agent to select the banks, trust companies or other depositories into which the funds of the nonprofit corporation will be deposited.

Section 9.03 Checks and Drafts

All checks, drafts and other orders for payments of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness by the nonprofit corporation must be signed by those officers, agents or employees selected by the Board of Directors, and in the manner determined by majority resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 9.04 Loans

The nonprofit corporation is prohibited from making any loans or borrowing any funds unless specifically authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors. The authority granted by the Board of Directors may be general or confined to specific instances. The nonprofit corporation will not make any loans to its Directors or officers.

Section 9.05 Investments

The nonprofit corporation's funds may be in invested in any investments selected by the Board of Directors or any investment manager appointed by the Board of Directors for that purpose. In making any investments, the Board of Directors or investment manager (as the case may be) should give due regard to balancing the need to preserve principal, to produce income and capital gains, and to achieve long-term growth of the nonprofit corporation's assets.

Section 9.06 Expenses

The Board of Directors will pay all expenses of the nonprofit corporation including, but not limited to, custodian, investment management fees, legal fees, and accounting fees and charges first from income and then from the principal assets of the nonprofit corporation.

Article Ten Miscellaneous Provisions

Section 10.01 Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the nonprofit corporation shall end on the last day of December.

Section 10.02 Singular and Plural; Gender

Unless the context requires otherwise, words denoting the singular may be construed as plural and words of the plural may be construed as denoting the singular. Words of one gender may be construed as denoting another gender as is appropriate within the context. The word or when used in a list of more than two items may function as both a conjunction and a disjunction as the context requires or permits.

Section 10.03 Headings of Articles, Sections, and Subsections

The headings of Articles, Sections, and Subsections used within the By-Laws are included solely for the reader's convenience and reference. They have no significance in the interpretation or construction of this agreement.

Section 10.04 Notices

Unless otherwise stated, whenever these By-Laws call for notice, the notice must be in writing and must be personally delivered with proof of delivery, or delivered by electronic transmission or regular mail, to the last known address of the party requiring notice. Notice is effective on the date personally delivered or on the date of the return receipt. If a party giving notice does not receive the return receipt but has proof that he or she mailed the notice, notice is effective on the date it would normally have been received. If notice is required to be given to a minor or incapacitated individual, notice must be given to the parent or legal representative of the minor or incapacitated individual. An "electronic transmission" means any form of communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, which creates a record that may be retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process.

Section 10.05 Waiver of Notices

Whenever any notice is required to be given under federal law, state law or, the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws, a written waiver of the notice signed by the person or persons entitled to the notice before or after the time stated in the notice, will be treated as the equivalent to receipt of the required notice.

Section 10.06 Reference to Laws

All general or specific references to the Internal Revenue Code are to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as now in force or later amended, or the corresponding provision of any future United States revenue law. Similarly, any general or specific references to the laws of the State of Utah are to the laws of the State of Utah as now in force or later amended.

Article Eleven Amendments

The Board of Directors may amend, alter, or repeal the By-Laws or any specific provision of the By-Laws, and may from time to time make additional By-Laws.

I, <u>Maren Jacobson</u>, as Secretary of the Utah Association for Behavior Analysis, a Utah Corporation, hereby certify that the foregoing constitute the By-Laws of this corporation as adopted and in full force and effect on this <u>19th</u> day of <u>May 2025</u>.

Signed by:

Secretary A7D4DC6DDE3A4F4...